IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID S. FRANCES,) Appellant,) vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Appellee.)

CASE NO. SC05-892

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 249238 444 Seabreeze Blvd. - Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118-3941

(386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged David S. Frances and his brother, Elvis Frances, by indictment with the first-degree murders of Helena Mills and JoAnna Charles, robbery of Mills' automobile, and two counts of petit theft of Charles' jewelry and Mills' son's Playstation video console. $(V2, R 357-359)^1$ The defense unsuccessfully contested the legality of Florida's death penalty under *Ring v*. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), contending among other things that it is unconstitutionally imposed by a judge rather than by jury, that it fails to require jury unanimity, and that the standard penalty phase jury instructions are unconstitutional as they minimize the role of the jury. (V3, R 404-406, 451-473; V4, R 634-654; V5, R 825-831, 866-870) The defendant also moved to bar victim impact evidence from the penalty phase of the trial, contending that under Florida's death penalty scheme, such evidence is irrelevant (and hence unconstitutional) to any statutory aggravating circumstances. (V1, T 40) The court denied the motions and permitted the victim impact evidence. (SR3, T 129-130, 149-150; V1, T 40)

A jury trial commenced before the Honorable John H. Adams, Judge of the

¹The symbol "V" refers to volumes of the record on appeal (pleadings and penalty phase transcripts); the symbol "TT" to the volume numbers of the trial transcripts, numbered separately from the record of pleadings; while the symbol "SR" refers to volumes of the supplemental records.

Ninth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Orange County on October 25, 2004. (V6, R 1129-1134) The court denied the defendant's motions for judgment of acquittal, in which defense had argued that there was a lack of premeditation shown. (TT9, T 1480-1487) The jury returned verdicts of guilty for two counts of first degree premeditated murder, one count of robbery, and two counts of petit theft as charged. (V6, R 1165-1169) The court adjudicated the defendant guilty of the charges. (V6, R 1162-1164)

Penalty phase of the trial commenced on November 1, 2004. The state produced the victim impact testimony of relatives of the two victims, along with additional testimony of the medical examiner. (V1, T 48-57, 58-66) Despite hearsay evidence being admissible at the penalty phase by statute [Fla. Stat. §921.141(1)], the trial court sustained multiple objections by the state to proposed hearsay testimony by the defendant, including testimony about the poor conditions of the house in which Frances grew up (V1, T 83-86), details of conversations a defense mitigation specialist had with folks in St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin Islands, and St. Kitts, where David and his brother Elvis grew up, regarding their childhood and young adulthood and the sharp contrast between the two brothers (V1, T 87-95), reports of domestic abuse (with cords and belts) on David as a child (V1, T 105-106), and a report of the defense mental health expert as to David's statements to

him as to why he could not leave Elvis despite Elvis's acts of prior violence. (V2, T 225-226) The court also sustained the state's objections to and precluded other defense testimony as irrelevant or improper, including reports of Elvis Frances's prior acts of violence (to show the relative character of David's brother, who was extensively involved in the instant case, and, in the defense view, the instigator of the violence, and to show the dynamics between the two brothers) (V1, T 135-136, 198-200), mental health expert opinion on whether the defendant possessed "street smarts" and how he would explain a person of normal intelligence not attempting to disguise the stolen vehicle (as the defendant had not done) (V1, T 178-181), and the mental health expert's opinion as to whether the in-court testimony of witnesses who knew the brothers contained anything inconsistent with the doctor's opinions about the pathologically dependent sibling relationship David had with his brother. (V2, T 212-213)

Following the presentation of the penalty phase testimony and argument of counsel, the jury recommended the death penalty for each of the two murders, voting 9-3 for death on Count I (Helena Mills murder) and 10-2 for death on Count II (JoAnna Charles murder). (V2, T 315; V6, R 1191, 1192) The defendant's motion for new trial was denied. (V7, R 1210-1204, 1226-1227)

After additional live and videotaped mitigating evidence was presented to

the court in the *Spencer* hearing (SR6, T 246-310), the court sentenced the defendant to death, finding that the state had proved two aggravating circumstances for Count I, and three aggravators for Count II, to-wit: a prior violent felony (the contemporaneous conviction for the murder of the other victim), the murders were committed during the course of a robbery, and, as to Count II (JoAnna Charles) only, the murder was heinous, atrocious, and cruel. (V7, R 1240-1245)

The court rejected the statutory mitigating factors of "no significant history of prior criminal activity," and "acting under duress or the substantial domination of another" (despite "the effect of Elvis's influence on Defendant"). (V7, R 1245-1246) The court did find and give unspecified weight to the defendant's "relative youth together with other factors" (not specifying what weight was given and what "other factors" were considered with regard to this mitigating circumstance) (V7, R 1246-1247); the relative personalities of the defendant and his brother (David being a model, quiet, gentle child, with Elvis being a bad, aggressive child, with a bad attitude); the fact that defendant would institutionalize well and was a model inmate with a good demeanor; the "pathologically dependent relationship from an early age" between the defendant and his brother, which caused David to be unable to leave his brother even after Elvis's prior criminal activity, and which "pulled

[David Frances] into Elvis' life style." (V7, R 1247-1248) The court also noted that the defendant's mother had "left him shortly after he was born, leaving him to be reared by his grandmother in poverty in a small home in the Virgin Islands;" that he lacked a positive male role model, never having known his real father, and "that Defendant had a pathological relationship with Elvis, who was dominant because he was stronger and more aggressive than Defendant," observing the defense contention "that it is hard to dispute that Elvis was the dominant force in the murders given the fact that he was involved in a similar killing in Tallahassee." (V7, R 1248-1249) The trial court ruled that there was

substantial evidence to support these non-statutory mitigating circumstances and finds that they are fairly descriptive of defendant's history, personality, and conduct.

(V7, R 1249) Despite giving them "serious weight," the court, however, concluded "that the circumstances are primarily descriptive and do little to counterbalance the egregious nature of the acts which constitute the crimes," ruling that the aggravating circumstances outweighed those in mitigation, and imposing death sentences for both killings. (V7, R 1249-1250) Further, the court sentenced the defendant to a consecutive fifteen year term of imprisonment on the robbery conviction and sixty days in jail on each of the petit thefts. (V7, R 1233-1236, 1250)

5

Notice of appeal was timely filed. (V7, R 1261) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the morning of November 6, 2000, Elvis and David Frances visited the apartment home of the victims, Helena Mills and JoAnna Charles, family friends of the Frances and their mother. (TT5, T668-671; TT6, T785)² They chatted briefly with Mills' son, Dwayne Rivers, before leaving. (TT5, T 674-675) Rivers left for school and upon returning home late from school that evening, he discovered the bodies of Helena Mills, and a houseguest, 17-year-old JoAnna Charles, dead in the master bathroom off of the mother's locked bedroom. (TT5, T 675-687) The bodies had been piled one on top of the other, with Charles' body on top of Mills', and an electrical cord (from a radio) wrapped around Charles' neck. (TT5, T 697-704, 737; TT6, T 903) Cause of death of both victims was asphyxiation due to strangulation, either by ligature alone or by a combination of ligature and manual. (TT8, T 1199, 1203-1204, 1222-1223) Mills had some abrasions on her forehead and nose (which could have been caused by the deceased body being dragged) and one to her neck caused by the ligature, while Charles also had an abrasion (caused by slippage of the ligature) and crescent-shaped marks (consistent with Charles' fingernails and an attempt by Charles to remove the

² David and Elvis would frequently visit the Mills' household and vice versa to play video games with Dwayne Rivers, Mills'son, and chat with Mills. (TT5, T 669-671)

ligature) on her neck. (TT8, T 1194-1198, 1209, 1217-1221, 1235) There was no additional evidence of any bruising or striking, the puffiness of their faces being caused solely by fluid buildup after death. (TT8, T 1236-1238)

Mills' 1996 green Mazda 626 car, several items of Charles' jewelry and Rivers' Playstation video game console were discovered missing. (TT5, T 708-709, 717-720) The house was not ransacked, but the teenagers' room was messy. (TT5, T 694, 727, 730; TT6, T836, 922; TT7, T 942-944, 954)

Neighbors of the victims neither heard nor saw anything unusual on the day of the killings and no suspects were developed in the month following the crime. (TT6, T 835; TT7, T1019-1020, 1033-1034) However, in the early morning hours of December 6, 2000, police in Dekalb County, Georgia, stopped the suspect vehicle for a traffic violation, discovering Elvis Frances driving the car, with four other passengers, including brother David in the rear passenger seat. (TT7, T997-1002) A check of the tag indicated that the vehicle was stolen and involved in a homicide, hence all occupants of the vehicle were taken into custody. (TT7, T 999-1000, 1004) David reported to the arresting officer that he had purchased the car from an unidentified male in Tallahassee, Florida. (TT7, T 1003-1004)

Detectives from Orlando flew to Atlanta to interview the occupants, dismissing all except Elvis and David Frances. (TT7, T 1021-1024; TT9, T 13531356) Speaking to David, the detectives obtained a statement from him, eventually indicating that he had not purchased the car, but instead was aware that his brother had strangled Mills and Charles and had stolen the car. (TT9, T 1412-1433) The defendant admitted to being present, but merely assisted his brother in moving the bodies. (TT9, T 1417-1418)

After interviewing David, the detectives spoke with Elvis and played for him portions of David's interview, inculpating Elvis. (TT9, T 1447-1448) Following Elvis' interview, the detectives, the next day, returned to David and asked him for a further statement, indicating that they did not believe his earlier story. (TT7, T 1028; TT9, T 1453) This time, David confessed to his and Elvis' involvement in the killings, admitting that they went to Mills' home to steal a car for transportation as their mother had kicked them out of her home. (TT9, T 1458) There was no plan to kill the victims. (TT9, T 1464-1465) While there, Elvis went into Charles' room and started to strangle her and the defendant jumped on Mills, strangling her with his hands. (TT9, T 1459) While the defendant moved Mills' body into her bathroom, he noted that Elvis went and retrieved an electrical cord and strangled Charles again. (TT9, T 1459-1460) When David returned, Elvis had rendered Charles unconscious (but still alive), and they both moved her into the master bathroom, there strangling both victims again with the electrical cord. (TT9, T

1459-1461) The brothers found the jewelry in plain view and also took the Playstation and car keys. (TT9, T 1461-1462)³ Elvis drove Mills' car home, where they packed, then went to a pawn shop where David pawned the items for approximately \$200 before leaving town for Tallahassee. (TT9, T 1462-1463)⁴ David recounted in the statement that he felt true remorse for the killings, stating

he was confused and upset during the episode:

Q: But you were – she told you to get out. You took the car. You needed a ride, and then two people got killed in the results of it; is that correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: What do you feel?

A: I feel you – I feeling bad I did that. I really look bad. I didn't know – that didn't make no sense, what I did.

Q: Well – and the reason you did this is why?

A: I was like - I think it was - was just upset. I was just - I

³ Many other items of value, including other jewelry items and money, were present in plain view in the apartment, but were not taken. (TT6, T 852, 855, 891-895; TT7, T 981-982)

⁴ The police recovered the stolen items from the pawn shop, along with a pawn ticket in the defendant's name containing the defendant's fingerprint. (TT7, T 1044-1067, 1073-1085) A minor, such as Elvis, is precluded from making a pawn shop transaction. (TT7, T 1068-1069)

didn't know what to do. I was confused. I did not know what to do cause I have to take care of my 16-year-old brother. I have to take care of me. I didn't know what to do. (Inaudible)

Q: Is there anything else you want to tell us that you haven't already told us? This is your opportunity to say something.

A: I just - I only - I didn't - I really didn't want - man, I didn't want the ending to be like that there with Helena and Joanna. I didn't.

(TT9, T 1463-1465) During the interview, the detective suggested to David that Elvis, who had a bad temper, was out of control (this being based on information the detective had received from the boys' mother and after speaking with Elvis himself). (TT9, T 1468-1469)

Testimony from anyone who knew the Frances brothers spoke unanimously as to how this crime was so out of character for David, "an angel," a mild, quiet, passive, gentle boy, who never got into any trouble and always respected everyone, and who refused to fight even when someone hit him; whereas that same testimony solidly portrayed the younger brother, Elvis, as a bad-tempered trouble-maker, who was always looking for a fight, was uncontrollable by his mother, and who did not respect his mother and others or their property. (TT6, T 810, 817; V1, T 23-32, 110-115, 117-119, 121; SR6, T 257-258, 261-262, 263-269, 270, 277-279, 287-

288, 303)⁵ Abandoning both her sons, David and Elvis, as babies, Gleneth Byron left her native St. Kitts in the West Indies for work in Puerto Rico, leaving them in the care of their grandmother and aunt until David was seven or eight years old. (TT6, T 803; V1, T 23-26; SR6, T 262-263, 264-265, 274-275) Teachers and coaches recounted that David was a student on which a teacher or coach could depend, always lending a helping hand, assisting other students or players, loaning them his textbooks or computer time to others, necessitating David making up the time or assignment during leisure hours. (V1, T 182-184; SR6, T 250-253, 258, 281, 284-285) "Any violence?" "Not David!" was the universal reply. (V1, T 184; SR6, T 254-256) He tried to be the more caring, responsible "father-type" figure (one time bringing a needy little girl to class and asking his teacher if she could stay there while he studied so that he could keep an eye on her to protect her from some perceived harm). (V1, T 184; SR6, T 249-250, 257-258, 260, 280)

Upon moving to St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin Islands, Byron first retrieved David from his grandmother's to come live with her. (TT5, T 803-804; V1, T 87; V2, T 213-215) When Byron had ideas of later retrieving her four-year-old Elvis, seven-year-old David protested, being tremendously afraid of his much younger

⁵ The brothers were as different as "night and day." (V1, T 23-27, 113, 118, 133-134; SR6, T 247-250, 253-254, 268-269, 270, 282-283)

brother, who, despite their age difference, had beaten David. (V2, T 214-215; SR6, T 214-215, 296-297)⁶ Still, as the brothers grew up together on St. Thomas, David would nonetheless try to look out for his younger, but stronger, brother, chastising, but taking care of Elvis when he got into trouble. (V1, T 120; SR6, T 249, 254-255, 258) Adults, recognizing that Elvis would not mind his mother, would often seek David's assistance in calming Elvis and counseling him to stay out of trouble. (V2, T 222; SR6, T 273, 283-284) David's efforts would only have a short-term impact, which would wear off in a day or two. (SR6, T 284, 295)

The pair of brothers were active in baseball, both being rather good and playing for the all-star teams. David was the consummate team player, always playing whatever position the team needed (playing mostly outfield, even though he preferred to catch), and always a good sport; while his polar opposite Elvis played dirty, got in fights (including one with a knife) with opponents, umpires, and even teammates, insisting on playing as he saw fit, rather than as the team needed. (V1, T 121; SR6, T 250-254, 281, 288-290) Elvis was suspended for a time from playing due to his behavior. (SR6, T 282, 288-290, 293)

Even after the family moved to the states, the testimony regarding the

⁶ This "early on" event factors into the overall relationship between Elvis and David. (V2, T 214-215) Additional testimony indicated that David's fear of Elvis continued into his

brothers did not change: David continued to be calm and quiet, not liking all the "confusement, arguments going on," while Elvis, who ran the house even though younger, had a "don't care" violent attitude. (V1, T 133-135; SR6, T 306-310) Testimony was presented that David, who had gone AWOL from the army (which he joined immediately upon graduation from the St. Thomas high school) to take care of Elvis when he heard of Elvis getting in trouble. (V2, T221-222)

Elvis, in fact, with a roommate, Tomeka Jones, and with*out* David, engaged in a prior murder of an acquaintance in Tallahassee in September 2000, by strangling the victim with an electrical cord quite similar to the instant crimes, in order to steal the woman's car. (SR6, T 306) Learning of his brother's crime, David, who suffers from a "pathological dependent relationship" with his sibling, again made efforts to assist his brother out of his troubles by helping to dispose of the body, once again trying to protect Elvis, whom David desperately needed. (V2, T 223-226) Dr. Mings, a psychologist, testified that, despite Elvis' wrongdoings, David was unable to leave Elvis to his own devices because of his desire to protect him and because David sees Elvis as "all he has." (V2, T 223-227) David is neither a psychopath nor a sociopath, Dr. Mings relating that one cannot understand David without understanding Elvis and the brothers' sibling dynamics,

young adulthood. (SR6, T 133-134, 296-297)

which would have made David's involvement in this crime occur. (V1, T 177-178; V2, T 213-215, 223-226) Others who knew the boys concurred; "Elvis is the type of person, he can put that faith in you to make you do things you don't want to do," and "He's that strong-willed child, that bad, strong-willed child." (SR6, T 296)

While David was remorseful for the crimes he committed,⁷ Elvis "expressed no [such] remorse" and "during the PSI interview, the subject appeared to be bored and unconcerned.". (SR7, R 326) Instead, this "willing participant" in the murders "didn't care," had a violent, uncontrollable temper (causing even his own mother to be afraid of him),⁸ ruled the household, and was unemployed, allowing himself to be cared for by his older brother, David. (SR7, R 325, 326; V1, T 133-134)

A jail guard testified on David's behalf, dubbing him a "model prisoner." (V1, T128) Dwayne Bell, of the Orange County Corrections Department, who had supervised the defendant on his cell block for about a year and a half, remarked that David was quiet and no trouble, staying mostly to himself, reading, and always asking (rather than being told) for cleaning supplies, volunteering to clean not only his own cell, but also the showers as well. (V1, T 125-128)

⁷ The trial judge expressed no doubt that David suffered remorse for his actions. (SR1, T
⁸ Hence, the reason she asked her sons to leave. (TT6, T 794, 810-818)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Point I. The defendant's death sentences must be reversed and a new penalty phase trial ordered where the trial court improperly excluded relevant evidence at the penalty phase of the trial. Relevant evidence is admissible and at the penalty phase, evidentiary rules are relaxed and a defendant may present hearsay testimony. In a capital sentencing proceeding, any evidence which tends to show the character of the defendant, his role in the crime and the facts leading up to it, and anything in mitigation of the defendant's sentence must constitutionally be allowed.

Point II. The death sentences must be reversed where the trial court's findings were insufficient, where the court failed to consider appropriate mitigating factors, where the court erroneously found inappropriate aggravating circumstances, and where a comparison to other capital cases reveals that the only appropriate sentences in the instant case are life sentences.

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