IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID SYLVESTER FRANCES,

Appellant,

Case No. SC05-892

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #410519
444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Frances argues that the trial court's rulings on POINT I: State objections deprived him of a fair trial and the right to present a defense. Some of the evidentiary rulings were not preserved for appellate review. The trial judge ruled properly on those issues which were preserved. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in his rulings. Although Frances claims he should be allowed to admit unlimited hearsay in the penalty phase and the State has no right to rebut the hearsay, this Court's case law is squarely to the contrary. Numerous witnesses testified in the penalty phase. There was no reason to repeat their testimony through an expert or mitigation specialist, and to do so would be bolstering and an attempt to comment on their credibility. Much of the complained-about testimony was cumulative to testimony of other witnesses. Some of the objections involved relevance, and the record shows the information was not relevant to any material issue. Frances was not deprived a fair trial or penalty phase. Error, if any, was harmless.

POINT II. The State proved two aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt as to both victims: prior violent felony and during a felony. Additionally, the State proved the murder of JoAnna Charles was heinous, atrocious and cruel. The trial court found and weighed mitigation based on the evidence

presented. Appellant's argument that the trial judge did not assign the proper weight to mitigation is not a valid consideration. The weight to be assigned that mitigation is within the trial judge's discretion. There was no abuse of discretion. This court does not re-weigh aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Frances' death sentence is proportional to other similarly-situated double homicides.

POINT III: Frances' Ring claim has been repeatedly rejected by this court. This case involved both contemporaneous murders and prior violent felonies. The murders were committed during a robbery.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN SUSTAINING THE STATE'S OBJECTIONS PENALTY PHASE TESTIMONY THAT WAS NOT RELEVANT, HEARSAY, OR **OTHERWISE** WAS INADMISSIBLE

Frances claims the trial court abused its discretion by excluding relevant evidence at the guilt and penalty phases; therefore, he was denied a fair trial. This issue is not adequately briefed to present a viable claim. See Simmons v. State, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S285, 294. n.12 (Fla. May 11, 2006) citing Coolen v. State, 696 So. 2d 738, 742 n.2 (Fla. 1997); Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990). The State will attempt to address the individual cites to the record.

1. Why David and Elvis had to leave Tallahassee apartment. This bit of evidence would supposedly prove "why David in his confession tried to minimize his brother's role in these killings." (Initial Brief at 19). The record cite refers to the testimony of Gleneth Byron, Frances' mother during the guilt phase:

- Q. (By defense counsel) By the way, back in the months before they moved into your house in Orlando, didn't you talk to Elvis on the phone about his living situation?
- Mr. Wixtrom (State): Judge, I'm going to object right now to continued questions as it pertains to Elvis as to relevance.

Mr. Schmer: Well, it's directly relevant. If I may pursue this line of questioning briefly.

The Court: I would allow it. Objection overruled.

By Mr. Schmer: Did you have a conversation with Elvis -- don't get into specifics, but just a conversation with Elvis about Elvis and David being evicted from their apartment in Tallahassee?

- A. Yes.
- Q. They told you they were evicted because --

Mr. Wixtrom: objection, calls for hearsay.

. . . (discussion)

The Court: Objection sustained.

By Mr. Schmer: When David Frances and Elvis Frances were evicted from their apartment in Tallahassee, did you go up there to assist them in any way?

A. No, sir.

Mr. Schmer: Nothing further, Your Honor. Thank you. (Vol. 6, TT819-22).

It is well settled that a trial judge's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. Johnston v. State, 863 So. 2d 271, 278 (Fla. 2003); Carpenter v. State, 785 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 2001). This colloquy occurred during the guilt phase. The trial judge allowed testimony regarding the fact David and Elvis were evicted and that Mrs. Byron did not go to help them. Although defense counsel "proffered" his testimony regarding his theory of what this evidence would show, he never proffered Mrs.

Byron's testimony. Therefore, this issue is not preserved. Blackwood v. State, 777 So. 2d 399, 408 (Fla. 2000). Even if it were preserved, it has no merit. The only objection sustained was to what Elvis told Mrs. Byron which is hearsay. The trial court correctly ruled that this was hearsay not within any exception. Defense counsel was able to present the fact the brothers were evicted and the mother did not help them get from Tallahassee to Orlando. Any further testimony would be cumulative. Blackwood, 777 So. 2d at 411.

- 2. Condition of house in which Frances grew up. This cite refers to a question asked Julie Norman, mitigation specialist:
 - Q Okay. Now, Ms. Norman, you indicated that you did travel to St. Kitts. Did you visit the home where David lived for the first six to eight years of his life?
 - A Yes, I did.
 - Q Can you describe for us what you found?

(Vol. 1, R83). The prosecutor objected as to the relevance of how a house appeared fifteen years after Frances lived there. The trial judge sustained the objection (Vol. 1, R84). The trial judge sustained a second objection to a similar question regarding what the home looked like today (Vol. 1, R85). The trial judge also sustained an objection as to what "Sara" said about conditions fifteen years earlier (Vol. 1, R86). The objection as to relevance was properly sustained. The objection

as to hearsay was also properly sustained. Sara Frances' videotaped deposition was played at the penalty phase, and the State was able to cross-examine her.

Although the defense argues that Section 921.141(1), 10 Florida Statutes, allows a defendant to admit unlimited hearsay because the State has no right to confrontation, this argument has repeatedly been rejected by this Court. Hitchcock v. State, 578 So. 2d 685, 689-690 (Fla. 1990); Blackwood v. State, 777 So. 2d 399, 410-412 (Fla. 2000) 11 (three reports from mental health

^{10§921.141(1)} provides in relevant part:

In the proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems relevant to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant and shall include matters relating to any of the aggravating or mitigating circumstances enumerated in subsections (5) and (6). Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence, provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements.

¹¹ In *Blackwood*, this Court noted:

Additionally, we note that even though section 921.141(1) relaxes the evidentiary rules during the penalty phase of a capital trial, the statute clearly states that the defendant must have an opportunity to fairly rebut the hearsay evidence in order for it to be admissible. See Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1018 (Fla. 1994). This rule applies to the State as well. Cf. Hitchcock v. State, 578 So. 2d 685, 690 (Fla. 1990) (finding no merit to claim that state's ability to introduce hearsay in a penalty proceeding is limited while a defendant's ability to introduce hearsay is unlimited). (Emphasis supplied)

expert excluded); *Parker v. State*, 873 So. 2d 270, 283 (Fla. 2004).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in sustaining the objection and, since Sara Frances testified, the issue is moot.

3. Conversations between defense mitigation specialist and others. This cite corresponds to testimony by Julie Norman that she interviewed witnesses about the Frances brothers' background and childhood. The State objected as to any hearsay statements because they could not rebut the statements (Vol. 1, R87). The information was never proffered and this issue is not preserved for review. Blackwood, supra. The trial judge properly sustained the objection because it was hearsay and the State did not have the opportunity to rebut.

Furthermore, even if this testimony had been allowed, it was cumulative to the testimony of the witnesses she interviewed because they testified at the penalty phase or their videotapes were admitted. See Blackwood, 777 So. 2d at 411. Uncle Ben Richards, Aunt Sara Frances, teacher and baseball coach Michael Bute, teacher Dwayne Bell, teacher Mario Turnbull, baseball coach Ira Todman, and baseball "mom" Jacqueline George all testified as to David and Elvis' childhood, the differences between the boys, and Elvis' violent temperament. This testimony was cumulative.

Reports of domestic abuse with cords and belts. Frances raises this claim without explanation. The record cite is to the proffered testimony of Julie Norman that she found some (unspecified) information that indicated possible physical abuse of David. Her sources were David and Elvis Frances. (Vol. 1, R105). More specifically, there had been beatings with cords, belts and hands (Vol. 1, R106). The State objected to the question whether "there is always documented evidence of child abuse or domestic violence." (Vol. 1, R102). The basis of the objection was relevance because there had been no testimony regarding abuse (Vol. 1, R103). The trial judge stated that evidence of what is "usual" in domestic violence cases was inadmissible (Vol. 1, R103). Defense counsel then said he wanted to present testimony that through interviews, Ms. Norman learned that there were "possible instances of physical abuse." (Vol. 1, R104). The State objected as to hearsay (Vol. 1, R105). The trial judge sustained the objection to the questions and answers proffered, which was that David and Elvis told her about beatings by hands, belts and cords (Vol. 1, R106).

As outlined in section #2 above, the State had no opportunity to rebut these hearsay statements of the defendant and co-defendant. Apparently, the only information of physical abuse came from David and Elvis. No other family member, friend, or teacher had any information. This makes the

allegation particularly suspect. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in omitting this testimony which was based on the self-report of the defendant and his co-defendant brother, both of whom were unavailable to the State.

- 5. Defendant statements to mental health expert. This cites refers to the testimony of Dr. Mings when defense counsel asked:
 - Q So if David -- you mentioned pathologically dependent sibling relationship, which I am trying to understand. After the Tallahassee incident, why couldn't David just leave Elvis, say I'm out of that?
 - A I've asked him that numerous times. I've asked him several questions which have been very difficult for him to answer for me. And his response to me at one point recently when I asked him, I said David, you know, everything I know about you during your early life, I don't understand this. I don't understand how you got from what people are saying about you through the period of time where you left for the military.

Mr. Ashton: Objection to the hearsay response from a defendant.

(Vol. 2, R224-226). Dr. Mings went on to testify that David leave Elvis after the Tallahassee murder because did not "emotionally he sees Elvis as all he has." (Vol. 2, R226). The trial court sustained the objection to the defendant's statement, but allowed testimony on Dr. Mings opinion why David did not leave Elvis after the Tallahassee murder. Again, this adequately briefed. Simmons, Duest, supra. is not Although the objection as to hearsay was sustained, the defense

was allowed to elicit the testimony they wanted to elicit. As argued in sections #2 and #4 above, the hearsay objection was not an abuse of discretion.

6. Reports of Elvis' acts of violence. The record cites refer to the testimony of Tameka Jones when defense counsel asked the witness to describe incidents of Elvis Frances' physical violence. The State objected on grounds of relevance. The objection was sustained (Vol. 1, R134). The following took place:

(The following proceedings were had at the bench)

Mr. Hooper: Your Honor, the court had previously ruled, I believe, that the character of Elvis was relevant in this case so it could be juxtaposed with the character of David. Specific incidents of violence committed by Elvis Frances for violence. We heard from the other witnesses so far, Coach Bute and other witnesses, of Elvis being a physically violent person.

The Court: I previously ruled that evidence of the prior homicide would be admissible.

Mr. Hooper: Okay. So I'm not allowed to go into this area, then?

The Court: This is an improper introduction of character evidence. You haven't offered character evidence in a proper form, and I haven't heard whether the state will object to it, so I don't know what my ruling will be. But you can't show character evidence by prior bad acts.

Mr. Hooper: Okay. My intent was not to show character evidence, per se. It's just to amplify, illustrate the brothers and the difference in the brothers, their sibling relationship.

Mr. Ashton: Well, counsel argued and the court agreed the murder, the defendant's reaction to it, was relevant. There is no indication of any kind of tie it up with this. This is just an unrelated act of violence by Elvis, so far as I'm aware.

The Court: I'll sustain the objection.

(Vol. 1, R135-136). Jones then testified about how Elvis killed Washington (Vol. 1, R136-140). The trial court allowed Jones to testify about Elvis killing Monique Washington and how David was only involved after the fact. The testimony about Elvis' other acts of violence were not proffered during the penalty phase, so this issue is not preserved. *Blackwood*, *supra*.

At the *Spencer* hearing, Jones testified about Elvis choking a puppy and beating a small boy who "poo pooed" on himself. If this was the testimony the defense wanted to present in David's penalty phase, the trial court was correct in excluding the evidence. Not only was it not relevant, it was improper character evidence of Elvis.

- 7. Mental health expert testimony on "street smarts." This cite refers to questioning of Dr. Mings when defense counsel asked:
 - Q And how would, how would you explain someone of normal intelligence doing something that would seem sort of bizarre, not changing the tags, not switching off the car, just riding around, with capture almost inevitable?
 - Mr. Ashton: Objection, Your Honor. That calls for speculation that's not based upon psychology. That calls for rank speculation. I object to it.

The court: I'll sustain the objection.

- Q Is there any, other than IQ and intelligence, is there any other type of learned social skills, street smarts, if you will, that would factor into the way a person would respond in a given situation?
- A That's a common term that's used, street smarts, how smart they are out in real life, on the streets, doing things like, you know, criminals who are successful or fairly street smart, they know how to do things to avoid getting caught.
- Q In your opinion, did David possess these, what we call street smarts?

Mr. Ashton: Objection. That's outside of the area of expertise. I don't believe there's a DSM criteria for street smarts.

Mr. Hooper: May we approach, Your Honor?

The Court: Yes, sir. Would you take the jury out, please.

(Jury exited the courtroom)

The Court: Mr. Hooper?

Mr. Hooper: Yes, Your Honor. Dr. Mings has been qualified as an expert in the area of psychology, which I believe he quite clearly established is a study of human behavior. It's not just the study of abnormal behavior or psychiatric problems. It's in no way whatsoever limited to the four corners of the DSM. It goes far beyond the DSM and it deals with everyday behavior of everyday people. There is no allegation that there is anything, any particular DSM diagnosis on Mr. David Frances. And Dr. Mings is an expert in the field of general human behavior and should be allowed to give his opinion in that area.

Mr. Ashton: He is an expert in psychology, and if counsel can establish that "street smarts" is a subject that's studied or understood by psychologists better than the normal human being, he is right. At

this point there has been no predicate to establish that "street smarts", whatever that means, is an area of psychological study. So at this point I would ask the court to sustain the objection.

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